FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/16/2019 8:00 AM SUPREME COURT NO. 97209-5

COA NO. 35361-3-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON CATE, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR OKANOGAN COUNTY

Okanogan County Cause No. 17-1-00046-7

The Honorable Henry A. Rawson, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Petitioner

LAW OFFICE OF SKYLAR BRETT, PLLC P.O. Box 18084 Seattle, WA 98118 (206) 494-0098 skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Brandon Cate, the petitioner below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Brandon Cate seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on April 16, 2019. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE: The state must present some evidence that a prior conviction exists in order to use it to increase the offender score at sentencing. Did the trial court err by finding that Mr. Cate had ten prior felony convictions when the state did not present any evidence to that effect?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Brandon Cate of second-degree burglary, second-

degree theft, and malicious mischief. CP 36.

At sentencing, the prosecutor claimed that Mr. Cate had an

offender score of sixteen but did not offer any evidence that he had any

prior convictions. RP 372-73.

Instead, the prosecutor simply recounted his understanding of Mr.

Cate's prior offenses in a sentencing memorandum. CP 14-17. That

memorandum was not sworn to under penalty or perjury and it did not

attach any court documents from the alleged prior convictions. *See* CP 14-19.

At the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor said that he "believe[d]" his calculation of Mr. Cate's offender score was correct but that he had simply gotten the information from a plea form in a different case. RP 372.

Mr. Cate timely appealed. CP 1. The Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions and sentence. *See* Opinion. The Court of Appeals ruled that the prosecutor's assertions in the sentencing memorandum, combined with Mr. Cate's admission to prior crimes of dishonesty during his testimony at trial, constituted sufficient evidence for the sentencing court to accept the state's claims regarding the offender score. Opinion, pp. 8-9. The Court of Appeals also relied on the fact that Mr. Cate did not, himself, challenge the state's claims regarding his prior convictions below. Opinion, p. 9.

Mr. Cate timely seeks review in this Court.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the state failed to meet its burden to prove that Mr. Cate had prior convictions increasing his offender score. Division III's decision in this case directly conflicts with this Court's prior holdings in *State v. Hunley*¹ and *State v. Ford.*²

In order for a prior conviction to be included in an offender score calculation, the state must prove that the conviction occurred by a preponderance of the evidence. *Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 909; *Ford*, 137 Wn.2d at 479. The state must introduce "evidence of some kind to support the alleged criminal history." *Id.*³

This rule exists because it is "inconsistent with the principles underlying our system of justice to sentence a person on the basis of crimes that the State either could not or chose not to prove." *Ford*, 137 Wn.2d at 480 (*quoting In re Personal Restraint of Williams*, 111 Wn.2d 353, 357, 759 P.2d 436 (1988)).

The best evidence of a prior conviction is a certified copy of the Judgment and Sentence. *State v. Crow*, No. 35316-8-III, --- Wn. App. ---, 438 P.3d 541, 559 (April 9, 2019) (*citing State v. Lopez*, 147 Wn.2d 515,

¹State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

² State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) (superseded by statute, as recognized in State v. Cobos, 182 Wn.2d 12, 338 P.3d 283 (2014)).

³ A trial court's calculation of an offender score is reviewed de novo. *State v. Tewee*, 176 Wn. App. 964, 967, 309 P.3d 791 (2013). Illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal. *Ford*, 137 Wn.2d at 477.

519, 55 P.3d 609 (2002), abrogated in part by In re Personal Restraint of Adolph, 170 Wn.2d 556, 243 P.3d 540 (2010)).

Here, Mr. Cate's Judgment and Sentence lists ten prior convictions. CP 4. But the state did not present any evidence at sentencing that Mr. Cate had ever been convicted of a crime. RP 372-85.

Even so, the court sentenced him with an offender score of "9+." See CP 5. No evidence supports the court's finding that Mr. Cate had any prior felony convictions.

This Court stated in *Hunley* that: "A prosecutor's bare allegations are not evidence, whether asserted orally or in a written document." *Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 915. But the Court of Appeals endorsed the sentencing court's reliance on the prosecutor's "bare allegations" regarding Mr. Cate's alleged criminal history, contained in the prosecution sentencing memorandum. Opinion, pp. 8-9. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case directly conflicts with *Hunley*.

The Court of Appeals also relied on the fact that defense counsel "did not challenge" the allegations in the prosecutor's sentencing memorandum at Mr. Cate's sentencing hearing. Opinion, p. 9. But that logic – which used to be codified by statute – was held by This Court in *Hunley* to violate due process by impermissibly shifting the burden of

proof onto the defendant. *Id.* at 912. Again, the Court of Appeals reasoned in a manner explicitly foreclosed by this Court's decision in *Hunley*.⁴

The Court of Appeals should have remanded Mr. Cate's case for a new sentencing hearing. *Id.* at 909. Instead, it affirmed his sentence based on reasoning explicitly foreclosed by This Court's prior decisions in *Hunley* and *Ford*. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision in Mr. Cate's case conflicts with this Court's prior holding in *Hunley* and *Ford*. The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1). The issue here is also of substantial public interest because it could impact a large number of criminal cases. The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).