FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/11/2019 8:40 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97209-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRANDON WILLIAM CATE

APPELLANT.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OKANOGAN COUNTY CAUSE NO. 17-1-00046-7 THE HONORABLE HENRY A. RAWSON, JUDGE

ARIAN NOMA Prosecuting Attorney 237 4th Avenue N. P.O. Box 1130 Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On January 31st 2017, Appellant was booked into the Okanogan County Jail and held in relation to a number of burglaries in the Omak-Okanogan area. One of these cases involved the Appellant breaking into the Omak JC Penney's store and stealing a quantity of jewelry. This was charged as 17-1-00046-7 as Burglary in the Second Degree, Theft in the Second Degree, and Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree. [CP 4] The Appellant's had a jury trial on 4/5/2017 and 4/6/2017, which resulted in a hung jury. On 5/31/2017 the second jury trial commenced.

The testimony presented was essentially the same, with the exception of an additional witness, forensic scientist William Culnane because DNA evidence was tested and completed by the time of this second trial. Forensic Scientist Culnane compared a DNA profile from the Appellant's saliva to a DNA profile from the blood that was recovered inside JC Penney's store. The DNA profiles were the same. [RP 228 – RP 240]. The Appellant testified that he never confessed to the crime, and that he was not responsible for the burglary. [RP 301 – RP 211]. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on all three counts.

Sentencing

The Appellant was sentenced on 6/2/2017. The Court reviewed the State's Sentencing Memorandum, and the Defense indicated that

they had received and reviewed the State's sentencing Memorandum. [RP 372].

Within the State's sentencing memorandum, the State indicated the Appellant's prior felony convictions. The State indicated that his three prior felony convictions for which he was sentenced on May 8th 2006, did not "wash out" because of subsequent misdemeanor criminal history.

The memorandum detailed particularized facts of the Appellant's subsequent felony convictions. The State identified his prior burglary conviction from May of 2015 in Okanogan County case 15-1-00031-2. The State then summarized the Appellant's recent convictions in Okanogan County from April 2017 by cause number. These were 17-1-00039-4 and 17-1-00040-8. The memorandum described the sentences imposed in these two cases. Trial counsel for the Appellant and State were the same for both of those cases. The memorandum indicated that the Appellant was at a "score" of 9+ for each count. The memorandum further indicated that the total "points" actually amounted to 16 on the controlling charge of burglary, and 12 on the other two charges. [CP 90]

The State orally represented to the Court that it calculated the Appellant's offender score by viewing prior plea agreements, judgment and sentences, the National Crime Information Center, and the Appellant's criminal history (Judicial Information System). The State recommended a sentence at the high end of the standard range. [RP 372 – RP 375] The Defense asked for the low end of the standard range

sentence on the controlling charge of burglary: 51 months. 51 months is the low end of the standard range for a score of 9+. The Court ultimately sentenced the Appellant to the middle of the standard range. [RP 375 – RP 381]

ARGUMENT

A. The Appellant was Sentenced Appropriately in Accordance with his Offender Score

In establishing the Appellant's criminal history for sentencing purposes, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that a prior conviction exists. State v. Cabrera, 73 Wn. App. 165, 168, 868 P.2d 179 (1994). The best evidence of a prior conviction is a true and certified copy of the judgment. Id. at 168. The State may introduce other comparable documents of record or transcripts of prior proceedings to establish criminal history. Cabrera at 168. Bare assertions, unsupported by evidence, do not satisfy the State's burden. Hunley at 910. RCW 9.94A.530(2) states, "In determining any sentence other than a sentence above the standard range, the trial court may rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing, or proven pursuant to RCW 9.94A537. Acknowledgement includes not objecting to information stated in the presentence reports and not objecting to criminal history presented at the time of sentencing." Under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, a court must conduct a separate evidentiary hearing where a Appellant

disputes material facts that the court may wish to consider for sentencing purposes. *State v. Strauss*, 119 Wn.2d 401, 410, 832 P.2d 78 (1992).

In this case, evidence adduced at trial regarding Mr. Cate's criminal record include, Mr. Cate waiving the Fifth Amendment and taking an oath to tell the truth, and testifying in his own defense. During that testimony, Mr. Cate was subject to cross-examination. During cross examination, Mr. Cate admitted and affirmed his prior burglary convictions. [RP 307-308] These admissions were supported in the actual sentencing hearing by the State's Sentencing Memorandum, the records that the Court had access too through electronic archive, and the Judgment and Sentencing Orders that the State relied upon to calculate the offender score (See Appendix D: J&S 05-1-00163-5).

Specifically, the State's memorandum referred to several prior felony convictions from 2006, noting the dates of sentencing and the crimes. The State noted that these convictions were supported by evidence in the form of plea agreements and a review of multiple subsequent judgment and sentences previously filed in the Okanogan and Douglas County Superior Courts. Mr. Cate did not object or challenge the convictions or offender score during this sentencing hearing because he already admitted to them at trial, during his case in chief. Those felony convictions from 2006 are accurately reflected in a Judgment and Sentence. *See Appendix D: J&S* 05-1-00163-5.

The State indicated in its sentencing memorandum that it had reviewed the Judgment and Sentences, among other materials that supported the Appellant's more recent convictions. Furthermore, Judge Henry Rawson was the sentencing judge in this matter, and was the sentencing judge in an earlier 2015 matter. *See Appendix C: J&S 15-1-00031-2.* The State discussed the details of this case in the signed sentencing memorandum to remind the sentencing court of the prior case and sentence. The State then provided the cause numbers and details of the two recent cases that the Appellant had been sentenced to just seven weeks prior to sentencing in the instant case. The assertion by the prosecutor in the sentencing memorandum and on the record was likewise supported by Judgment and Sentences. *Appendix A: J&S 17-1-00039-4* and *Appendix B: J&S 17-1-00040-8.*

Even if it can be considered error for the Sentencing Court to adopt the criminal history of the Appellant with insufficient inquiry- it was harmless error. It is noteworthy that at sentencing, Trial Counsel asked for a sentence that was consistent with a score of 9 on the controlling charge of Burglary in the Second Degree. This was an implicit acknowledgement that the Appellant was indeed "maxed out" at his offender score. Appellate Counsel has not identified any error in the calculation of the Appellant's offender score, but merely states that sentencing was improper because the State never showed sufficient evidence of the Appellant's score. The remedy for such an error would

not be to resentence the Appellant with a score of zero. This would amount to the reviewing Court remanding a case for the purpose of imposing an *inaccurate* sentence. *See <u>State v. Tili</u>*, 148 Wn.2d 350, 360, 60 P.3d 1192, 1197 (2003).

Coupling Mr. Cate's admissions regarding his record during trial, the State's sentencing memorandum reviewed by Mr. Cate and his counsel prior to sentencing, the sentencing court's knowledge of Appellant and his record, along with the judgment and sentence orders presented and available to the court at the time of sentencing, the State met its burden of proof by preponderance that Mr. Cate's offender score is 9+. Furthermore, Mr. Cate never objected or challenged any information regarding his sentence. Therefore, because the Appellant's offender score was correctly calculated, there is no basis for the reviewing Court to remand the case for resentencing.

CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the State asks that this Honorable Court deny Mr. Cate's Petition for Review and affirm his conviction and sentence.